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)
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)

DECISION

We deny Charles T. Sell’s application to renew his dental license because he pled nolo contendere to the crimes of mail fraud and conspiracy to commit an offense against the United States.
Procedure


On March 11, 2003, Sell filed a complaint challenging the Missouri Dental Board’s (the “Board”) decision denying his application to renew his dental license.  The Board filed an answer on April 17, 2003.  Also on April 17, 2003, the parties filed a joint motion for stay, which we granted, holding our case in abeyance pending the outcome of two federal criminal cases in which Sell was a defendant.  On August 23, 2006, the Board filed a motion for leave to file an amended answer, which we granted.

We convened a hearing on the complaint on September 6, 2006.  Gordon Lee Baum, Attorney at Law, represented Sell.  Assistant Attorney General Amy Braudis represented the Board.  The last written argument was filed on November 9, 2006.

Findings of Fact


1.
The Board licensed Sell as a dentist on June 4, 1976.  Sell allowed his license to lapse on December 1, 1998.
2.
On November 6, 1997, a grand jury filed a 63-count indictment against Sell and Mary Sell in U.S. v. Dr. Charles Thomas Sell, D.D.S. and Mary Sell, Case No. 4:97CR290DJS, in the United States District Court, Eastern District of Missouri, Eastern Division (“the mail fraud case”).
3.
On December 3, 1998, a grand jury filed a six-count indictment against Sell in U.S. v. Charles T. Sell, a/k/a Tom Sell, Case No. 4:98CR177DJS, in the United States District Court, Eastern District of Missouri, Eastern Division (“the conspiracy case”). 
4.
On December 2, 2002, Sell applied to the Board to renew his dental license.

5.
On or about February 13, 2003, the Board denied Sell’s application.

6.
On April 15, 2005, Sell entered a plea of nolo contendere to Count 1 of the indictment in the mail fraud case, and by doing so pled nolo contendere to the crime of mail fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1342.  The District Court dismissed Counts 2 through 59
 and entered judgment against Sell as reflected in the sentence imposed against Sell on that date.
7.
On April 15, 2005, Sell entered a plea of nolo contendere to Count 1 of the indictment in the conspiracy case, and by doing so pled nolo contendere to the crime of conspiracy to commit an offense against the United States in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371.  The District Court dismissed 
Counts 2 through 6 and entered judgment against Sell as reflected in the sentence imposed against Sell on that date.
8.
The sentences imposed in the mail fraud and conspiracy cases included imprisonment for a total of 86 months, for which Sell was given credit for time served, and three years of supervised release.  One of the conditions of the supervised release is that Sell participate in a mental health program approved by the United States Probation Office.  Sell sees his psychiatrist once a month.
Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear this complaint.
  Sell has the burden to show that he is entitled to a license.
  When an applicant for licensure files a complaint, the agency’s answer provides notice of the grounds for denial of the application.


Sell argues that the Board was biased in denying his application because one of the Board members dislikes Sell and that records of the Board’s disciplinary actions over the last four years indicate only one revocation and it concerned drugs.  However, in applicant cases like this one, we do not “review” the decision of the Board.  Rather, we independently exercise the same authority that has been exercised by the Board
 and decide the case de novo.
  The appeal vests in this Commission the same degree of discretion as the Board, and we need not exercise it the same way.
  In other words, we are not bound by what the Board did, and the parties start over again by presenting evidence to this Commission as to whether Sell is entitled to licensure. 


In its first amended answer, the Board argues that there are grounds for denial under 
§ 332.321, which states:

1.  The board may refuse to issue or renew a permit or license required pursuant to this chapter for one or any combination of causes stated in subsection 2 of this section[.]

2.  The board may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621, RSMo, against any holder of any permit or license required by this chapter or any person who has failed to renew or has surrendered his or her permit or license for any one or any combination of the following causes:

*   *   *


(2)  The person has been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in any criminal prosecution pursuant to the laws of any state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated pursuant to this chapter, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed; 
*   *   *


(4) Obtaining or attempting to obtain any fee, charge, tuition or other compensation by fraud, deception or misrepresentation; or increasing charges when a patient utilizes a third-party payment program; or for repeated irregularities in billing a third party for services rendered to a patient.  For purposes of this subdivision, irregularities in billing shall include:

(a) Reporting charges for the purpose of obtaining a total payment in excess of that usually received by the dentist for the services rendered;

(b) Reporting incorrect treatment dates for the purpose of obtaining payment;


(c) Reporting charges for services not rendered;


(d) Incorrectly reporting services rendered for the purpose of obtaining payment that is greater than that to which the person is entitled;


(e) Abrogating the co-payment or deductible provisions of a third-party payment contract.  Provided, however, that this paragraph shall not prohibit a discount, credit or reduction of charges provided under an agreement between the licensee and an insurance company, health service corporation or health maintenance organization licensed pursuant to the laws of this state; or governmental third-party payment program; or self-insurance program organized, managed, or funded by a business entity for its own employees or labor organization for its members;

(5) Incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performance of, or relating to one’s ability to perform, the functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated by this chapter; 

*   *   *


(9) A person is finally adjudicated incapacitated or disabled by a court of competent jurisdiction;
*   *   *


(13) Violation of any professional trust or confidence[.]

I.  Criminal Offenses

The Board asserts that Sell pled nolo contendere to the crime of mail fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1342, which state:


[Sec. 1341] Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, or to sell, dispose of, loan, exchange, alter, give away, distribute, supply, or furnish or procure for unlawful use any counterfeit or spurious coin, obligation, security, or other article, or anything represented to be or intimated or held out to be such counterfeit or spurious article, for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice or attempting so to do, places in any post office or authorized depository for mail matter, any matter or thing whatever to be sent or delivered by the Postal Service, or deposits or causes to be deposited any matter or thing whatever to be sent or delivered by any private or commercial interstate carrier, or takes 
or receives therefrom, any such matter or thing, or knowingly causes to be delivered by mail or such carrier according to the direction thereon, or at the place at which it is directed to be delivered by the person to whom it is addressed, any such matter or thing, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both.  If the violation affects a financial institution, such person shall be fined not more than $1,000,000 or imprisoned not more than 30 years, or both.
*   *   *


[Sec. 1342] Whoever, for the purpose of conducting, promoting, or carrying on by means of the Postal Service, any scheme or device mentioned in section 1341 of this title or any other unlawful business, uses or assumes, or requests to be addressed by, any fictitious, false, or assumed title, name, or address or name other than his own proper name, or takes or receives from any post office or authorized depository of mail matter, any letter, postal card, package, or other mail matter addressed to any such fictitious, false, or assumed title, name, or address, or name other than his own proper name, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than five years, or both.


The Board also asserts that Sell pled nolo contendere to the crime of conspiracy to commit an offense against the United States in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371, which states:

If two or more persons conspire either to commit any offense against the United States, or to defraud the United States, or any agency thereof in any manner or for any purpose, and one or more of such persons do any act to effect the object of the conspiracy, each shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than five years, or both.

If, however, the offense, the commission of which is the object of the conspiracy, is a misdemeanor only, the punishment for such conspiracy shall not exceed the maximum punishment provided for such misdemeanor.

The evidence presented in this case consists of certified court documents showing that Sell pled nolo contendere to the crimes of mail fraud and conspiracy to commit an offense against the United States.  Sell does not dispute this fact.  


Sell testified and asserted in his written argument that he was in fact innocent, but pled nolo contendere so that he could get out of prison.  Even if true, under § 332.321.2(2), Sell’s purpose in pleading nolo contendere is not relevant.  Subsection 2(2) does not require the Board to show that Sell admitted guilt, but only that he pled nolo contendere to the crimes.  


However, to qualify as a ground for denial under § 332.321.2(2), the criminal offenses to which Sell pled nolo contendere must be either reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of his profession, or offenses an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or offenses involving moral turpitude.  In its first amended answer, the Board asserts that the crimes of mail fraud and conspiracy to commit an offense against the United States are offenses an essential element of which is fraud or dishonesty, and are offenses involving moral turpitude.
A.  Fraud or Dishonesty
To determine whether an essential element of a crime involves fraud or dishonesty, we do not look at whether Sell had a dishonest or fraudulent intent, but to the elements of the crime.  An essential element is one that must be present to prove every case.
  Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some valuable thing belonging to him.
  It always includes dishonesty, which is a lack of integrity, a disposition to defraud or deceive.
  Fraud and dishonesty are essential elements of mail fraud.  Therefore, we conclude that Sell pled nolo contendere to a crime – mail fraud – essential elements of which are fraud and dishonesty.

However, the crime of conspiracy to commit an offense against the United States may involve fraud or dishonesty, or it may not.  18 U.S.C. § 371 has two distinct clauses – the 
“offense” clause and the “defraud” clause.
  “The statute’s first sentence has always been read in the disjunctive to create a crime of conspiracy to commit an ‘offense’ against the United States that is to be distinguished from the crime of conspiracy to ‘defraud’ the government.”
  While fraud and dishonesty would be essential elements of the crime of conspiracy to defraud the government, in the United States Code there are many offenses against the United States that do not involve fraud or dishonesty.  Accordingly, we conclude that Sell’s nolo contendere plea to conspiracy to commit an offense against the United States is not a crime an essential element of which is fraud or dishonesty.
B.  Moral Turpitude


To determine whether a crime involves moral turpitude, we consider the offense rather than the underlying conduct.
  Moral turpitude is an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right of duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”
  Mail fraud and conspiracy to commit an offense against the United States are base offenses against the rights of others, and they involve moral turpitude.  We conclude that Sell pled nolo contendere to crimes – mail fraud and conspiracy to commit an offense against the United States – involving moral turpitude.
C.  Qualifications, Functions or Duties of a Profession


In its written argument, the Board also asserts that we may deny Sell’s application because the crimes to which Sell pled nolo contendere relate to the duties and functions of a dentist.  However, the Board did not notify Sell of this basis in its first amended answer to his 
complaint.  Due process requires that the licensing agency give the applicant notice of the grounds for denial.
  Because the Board did not give Sell notice of this ground for denial of his application, we cannot consider it.

D.  Result

Because Sell pled nolo contendere to the crimes of mail fraud, a crime an essential element of which is fraud and dishonesty and a crime involving moral turpitude, and conspiracy to commit an offense against the United States, which is a crime involving moral turpitude, we find cause to deny Sell’s application under § 332.321.2(2).

II.  Obtaining Fees by Fraud, Misrepresentation or Deception

The Board also asserts that we may deny Sell’s application under § 332.321.2(4) for obtaining fees by fraud, misrepresentation or deception.  In its written argument, the Board argues that by pleading nolo contendere in the criminal cases, Sell acknowledged the conduct as charged in Count 1 of each of the indictments.  As support, the Board cites Missouri Dep’t of Public Safety v. Dameron, 161 S.W.3d 411 (Mo. App., W.D. 2005), and Watkins v. State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts, 651 S.W.2d 582 (Mo. App., W.D. 1983).

Dameron and Watkins, however, do not control this case.  Dameron involved a guilty plea, which is not present here.  In Watkins, the defendant made an Alford plea, which the court described as follows:

An “Alford” plea is still a guilty plea, even though it is coupled with a protestation of innocence.  Nothing in Alford indicates the contrary; in fact, Alford stands for the proposition that an admission of guilt is not a Constitutional prerequisite to the imposition of sentence pursuant to a guilty plea.[
]
The courts in Dameron and Watkins neither discussed nor decided whether a plea of nolo contendere acts as an admission in a subsequent civil case that the defendant committed the criminal acts as charged in an earlier criminal case.
A nolo contendere plea acts as an admission of guilt in the criminal case only.  The distinguishing feature between a plea of nolo contendere and a plea of guilty is that the former cannot be used against the defendant as an admission in a civil case for the same act.
  Thus, Sell’s pleas of nolo contendere acted as an admission of guilt only in his criminal cases, not in this case.  As noted above, Sell testified that he was innocent, but pled nolo contendere to get out of prison.  Without an admission by Sell, the Board offers nothing to dispute his testimony.  We find no basis to deny Sell’s application under § 332.321.2(4).
III.  Misconduct, Fraud, Misrepresentation or 
Dishonesty, and Violation of Trust or Confidence

The Board asserts that that we may deny Sell’s application under § 332.321.2(5) for misconduct, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performance of professional duties, and under § 332.321.2(13) for violation of any professional trust or confidence.  Again, the Board relies solely on Sell’s nolo contendere pleas in the criminal cases as an acknowledgement that he committed the conduct as alleged in Count 1 of each of the indictments.  As explained above, Sell’s nolo contendere pleas are not an admission in this case to the conduct alleged in the criminal cases, and the Board offers no other evidence to support its assertion.  We find no cause to deny Sell’s application under § 332.321.2(5) or (13).
IV.  Incapacity or Disability

In its first amended answer, the Board alleges that we may deny Sell’s application under § 332.321.2(9).  At the hearing, the Board stated that it would not pursue denial on this ground.  We find no cause to deny Sell’s application under § 332.321.2(9).
V.  Discretion

Section 332.321.1 allows us discretion to grant or deny Sell’s application to renew his license.  We conclude that the application should be denied.  

The purpose of the licensing laws is not to punish people, but to protect the public.
  A license granted by the State of Missouri places the seal of the State’s approval upon the licensee.
  Sell has not yet shown that the law entitles him to that seal of approval.

Sell pled nolo contendere to two serious crimes, mail fraud and conspiracy to commit an offense against the United States.  The seriousness of these crimes is apparent by the sentences imposed – 86 months in prison with credit for time served, and three years of supervised release that includes a requirement for participation in a mental health program.  Sell has not completed his three-year sentence of supervised release and continues to participate in the court-ordered mental health program by seeing his psychiatrist once a month.  It is too soon to tell whether he should be granted a seal of approval in the form of a state license and allowed to practice in Missouri.  If Sell successfully completes his sentence, he may be in a better position to show that he is entitled to a dental license.
Summary


We deny Sell’s application to renew his dental license.

SO ORDERED on December 12, 2006.


________________________________



TERRY M. JARRETT


Commissioner
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